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Wednesday, October 10, 2018
--- On commencing at 9:44 a.m.

MS. LONG:  Please be seated.

Good morning, everyone.  Good morning, panel.  The OEB continues to sit today in EB-2017-0182, 0194, and 0364.

Before we continue with cross-examination today, are there any preliminary matters?  Mr. Cass?  Mr. Warren?  No?  Then I turn to you, Mr. Rubenstein.
Preliminary Matters:


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just have one preliminary matter.

MS. LONG:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  In preparation for today, reviewing the record, there appears to be three undertaking responses to the May 7th NextBridge technical conference that were filed confidentially and were not distributed to the counsel that signed the declaration undertaking.  It appears they just got lost in the shuffle, and that's JT1.21, JTX1.1, and JTX1.2.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Cass?

MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, I can't comment on whether they were distributed or not.  They were filed.  Certainly NextBridge has no difficulty in making these confidential documents available to those set out in, I think it was Appendix A to the Board's Procedural Order No. 8, setting out the parties that the Board had accepted as having signed the undertaking.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Perhaps we could check that on the break, but I am assuming, Mr. Rubenstein, you have them?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Mr. Murphy did show them to me this morning.

MS. LONG:  Okay.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I don't have any -- it doesn't affect my cross-examination --


MS. LONG:  It doesn't?  Okay.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- it is just a flag.

MS. LONG:  You are just alerting me?  Okay, thank you, we will take a look at that.  Thank you for raising that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Panel, I do have a compendium.

MR. MURRAY:  We will mark that as an exhibit, Exhibit K5.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K5.1:  SEC CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR NEXTBRIDGE PANEL 1.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Does the panel have it?

MS. LONG:  Do the witnesses have that?  You do?  Okay, thank you.  Does the Panel have that?  Do we have that?  Okay, we have it, thank you.
NEXTBRIDGE - PANEL 1, resumed

Aziz Brott,
Dan Mayers,
Jennifer Tidmarsh,
Becky Walding,
Erin Whillans,
David Biggar; Previously Affirmed
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Panel, I would just like to orient ourselves with respect to this application.  My understanding is NextBridge and at the time called Upper Canada Transmission was designated by the Board in 2014 to build an East-West Tie line?  Do I have that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And in that process you were successful over five other transmitters?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And one of the bases, among others, with respect to the selection process by the Board, was with respect to costs;, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that included construction costs, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we turn to page 6 of the compendium, this is your response to the Board's comment, Interrogatory No. 26, during the designation proceeding.  Do you see that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I do, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we take a look in the second table in the middle, the total, my understanding is at the time -- so this would have been in 2013 -- you had forecasted a cost based on your recommended plan of $397 million, approximately, and, using the Board's reference plan, 430 million.  Do I have that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my understanding that the forecast at that time was based on a few things, and I just want to go over those quickly with you.  First it was based on a forecasted in-service date, I believe, of 2017.  Do I have that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that was with respect to a route that would take you through the park, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as well, as you can see from the table, it did not -- you did not include in that budget First Nations and Métis participation costs?  Do I have that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you had provided no IDC or AFUDC, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That is also correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as we know that there was a -- between your designation proceeding and the filing of your leave to construct, as was discussed at length in the development costs, the OPA requested a delay in the in-service date to 2020, and there was a decision from Parks Canada that you could not utilize the park route, and you as well made a few changes to go around Dorion.  Do I have that correct?  Those were the major changes, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand, using the new revised route, it's about -- it is no more than 10 percent greater in length.  Do I have that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's about -- yes, you are right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I understand at the time of the proposed budget, the filing of this, of the leave-to-construct application, was a budget of $737 million, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And if we turn to page 7 of the compendium, this is your response to SEC Interrogatory No. 6, and what we had asked you to do was provide a comparison of costs at designation versus your current application, but in 2020 dollars.  Do you see that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And in your response you did so, but -- and you -- and for the purposes of estimating the escalation to take you from 2017 to 2020, you escalated the costs by 3 percent a year for those three years.  Do I have that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, we did.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if you flip over the page you see the results of the analysis, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And what it shows is your leave-to-construct nominal dollars versus the designation nominal dollars, so the third column, is an increase of about 70 percent, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, it is.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And would you agree -- would you take it subject to check that if we remove from the leave to construct the two categories that were not included at the designation, so First Nations and Métis participation, as well as IDC, would you take it subject to check that the, what I will call the adjusted leave-to-construct amount is about $699 million?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Subject to check.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And would you accept that subject to check that that is then compared to the designation application nominal amount, an increase of about 61.3 percent more?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Subject to check.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that is a very significant increase, you would agree with me, versus what the costs you presented to the Board at the time of the designation proceeding, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So "very significant", I think, is -- it is an increase, and I think in our evidence we start going through the difference between our original designation application and what we filed.  And you can see that in some of our evidence, but we can point to that.  I'm not sure if you are finished going through our record, though.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, sorry.  I understood you may take the view that those are reasonable increases, but you would have to agree with me that it is a significant increase, 61 percent increase.

MS. TIDMARSH:  It is an increase, but it is an increase based on a certain number of factors that we've been outlining that we've discovered over the past five years of development of this project.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And those increases would account for significantly more than just the reroute around the park and the reroute around Dorion, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  There are other factors that are part of the increases that are beyond the reroute around the park and Dorion and Loon Lake.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Would you say that the other reasons are predominant?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So if I could, one of our answers to OEB 56, we go through -- that's our data book -- one of the pages that are in there goes through the percentages of detailed information on how each one of them are increased factors, is explained, and then the dollar amount associated with each one of those.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I am unclear, is it your view that the route change was the predominant reason for the cost increase?  Or not?

MR. MAYERS:  It is one of them.  There is multiple reasons.  Route alterations was roughly 67 million of that total.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So then would you agree with me that that is not the predominant reason?  It is a reason.  Accept that, but it is clearly not the predominant reason for the cost increase.

MR. MAYERS:  It would be in the top five, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, your budget at the time of filing the leave-to-construct application, which I believe was the end of July 2017, was $737 million for the construction phase, correct?

MR. MAYERS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And just to be clear, what you define as the construction phase is everything after the filing, all costs that you would be incurring after the filing of that leave-to-construct application.  Correct?

MR. MAYERS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my understanding at the time -- and we see this on page 9.  This is the schedule that you provided in your original application, leave-to-construct application -- at the time you were forecasting a leave-to-construct decision in Q1 2018, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And an EA approval in Q2 2018?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And an in-service in Q4 2020, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My understanding, if we flip the page over to page number 10, this is an updated response that you provided, and this is at the time of the motion hearing, as I understand it.  The forecast EA date had moved to October 2018.  Do I have that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  The schedule is in response to OEB Procedural Order No. 3.  So it wasn't the motion; it was part of this hearing.  But yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, do I not have that correct, that this is --


MS. TIDMARSH:  No.  It was port of our Procedural Order No. 3.  It wasn't part of the motion to dismiss.  But you are correct; the information is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My understanding is this was around the time of the motion hearing.  You filed this on May 25th?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's true.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So around the time of the motion hearing, the forecast was you would have an approved amended EA in October 2018, correct?  October 2018?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You would have a leave-to-construct decision by July 2018, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's what we've requested, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we flip the page over to page 13, you are still going to have an in-service date of Q4 2020, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we can flip over to page 27 of the compendium; this was from the May 7th technical conference.  This is an excerpt from the transcript and at line 5, Ms. Tidmarsh, you said:
"So we've -- I mean, as I mentioned, we took the 2020 in-service date, December 2020 in-service date, worked backwards from there, knowing that we needed to have an in-service from the order in council and the IESO's needs assessment and created our schedule to meet that date with about a one month contingency float."


Do you see that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I do, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understood at the time what you were saying is you had built in a one-month contingency into your schedule, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We had at the time, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if we go back to page 14, at page 14 this is a letter, Ms. Tidmarsh, you sent to the Ministers of Energy and Environment, correct, dated July 24, 2018.  That's what we're looking at here?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It is, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we flip over the page to page 15, you say in the first paragraph on page 15:
"NextBridge has repeatedly and publicly noted that NextBridge needs a decision from the OEB by the end of July 2018 to ensure a 2020 in-service date."

Correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that was your view as at least July 24, 2018, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It was, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we go to page 19, this is in your updated schedule in response to Staff 49.  Do you see that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I do, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And now you have forecasted an OEB leave-to-construct decision and order by December 31st, 2018, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We have, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And an amended EA by February 2019,  Correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We have.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we flip to page 20, 21, a December 31st first, 2020, in-service date, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So as I understand it, in the summer you had a one-month contingency built in to meet your December 2020 in-service date.  And yet with the leave-to-construct decision moved out what I take six months, you still having a December 31st, 2020, leave to construct.

Can you help me understand how that one-month float just turned into a six-months float?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sure.  I can start going through some of this, and then Mr. Mayers can add to it.

So as part of -- NextBridge has always been told that the line needs to be in-service in December 2020.  So two needs assessments, an updated assessment from the IESO, also the order in council for 2020.

So NextBridge has continually strived to ensure that there is a December 2020 in-service date.  And so in order to meet a December 2020 in-service date as part of recent undertakings, NextBridge went back, spoke to its general contractor, worked on the schedule with all of its team -- its team, and has come up with a schedule that will
still -- that will maybe be able to make a 2020 in-service date.  Mr. Mayers?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes.  So from a construction standpoint, our contractor has a -- he's got a fully baked plan.

We had to modify that plan, you know.  The dates have continued to slide and we talk to our contractor all the time.  Compressing the schedule in this particular case, trying to keep it down to that 19 -- 18-, 19-month time frame has been difficult.  But we do this kind of work all the time.

In the environment that we're in, competitive transmission, competitive wind/solar, we compress schedules all the time, and we are constantly working to try to, you know, become more efficient.

So as this project kept getting further and further delayed, we spent more time with our contractor looking at, okay, how does the seasonal adjustments take place?  Those seasonal adjustments, all of the segments for the project are laid out quite well.  The difference was we could no longer work in the areas that we had anticipated working in first.  We looked at the summer schedule versus the winter schedule and made -- started making those adjustments.

So from a contractor standpoint, we're comfortable with the fact that, yes, we're basically out of float.  We need to get this leave to construct and we need to get our EA on time, but June is the time we can start and December is the date that we believe we can still finish.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You said you may be able to meet the December 20th.  Can you help me understand what you mean by may?  Is it your forecast that if you get the EA by February 2019 and the leave to construct by the end of the year, you are more likely than not to --


MR. MAYERS:  It is our forecast.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- to have it in-service by the end 2020?

MR. MAYERS:  It is our forecast, and we will do the best that we can to bring it in December of 2020.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So then it is not correct to say that you had only one month of float built into your schedule, was it?

MR. MAYERS:  No, that's not correct.  It depends.  You have to go back and look at how the contractor was going to do the construction at that timeframe.

Now we have asked him to modify his construction plan.
So just by modifying it, he's got a comfort level that says he can meet this date.  We have a comfort level that says we can meet it within our plus/minus 10 percent.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask you to turn to page 32 of the compendium?  This was a letter that NextBridge filed with, I believe --


MS. WALDING:  Before we move on to that, can I go back to cost?  So I want to go back to the SEC, to your page 7 of your compendium, because I think that there was a misrepresentation in what the words were there.

So the words say that the application has been converted to nominal dollars with an escalation rate of 3 percent for three years.

So what that is saying is that the leave-to-construct application is in 2020 dollars, okay?  So there is still an escalation that is missing between the two columns.

And so now I would ask that we pull up JT1.24, and we go to the fourth page in on that response.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Of attachment 2?

MS. WALDING:  Of attachment 2, sorry, yes.  Now, the second page on attachment 2.  And you were asking if -- yes, change the orientation.

And in response to your question about the major drivers, most of the major drivers are broken out here and this was the 62 million that Mr. Mayers referenced was one of major drivers.  But you can see the escalation is also a major driver of 59 million.

So I did want to make sure that I cleared that up, that that is not the same as what you were referencing.

So there's not an escalation between -- there's a 2020 dollars and there is a 2012 dollars, and those comparison.  And so it does not have escalation between -- to bring those dollars to the same.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just looking at your table right here, you're taking the 375 -- this is just E&C costs, correct?  That's a --


MS. WALDING:  That's right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That is a portion of the total costs, correct?

MS. WALDING:  That's right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And this is 375 at designation, and I guess the full costs, I believe, were 397?

MS. WALDING:  That's right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you were taking it to 642.

MS. WALDING:  That's right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you are actually seeking -- your forecast costs were 737.

MS. WALDING:  Yes.  If we can go back to the first page of this attachment, that is all the rest of the cost.  And so we had it broken out into the non-E&C cost and to the E&C cost on two different pages.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we can go back to page 32 of the compendium.  This is a letter that NextBridge filed with the Board, and my understanding this is a letter, Ms. Tidmarsh, you received from the MOECP on December 20th, 2018, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  This is, I take it, actually an update to where you are on the environmental assessment plan, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It is, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand it, what they're saying is they anticipate that they have to do some translation to your environmental assessment work and then it will be ready for public review at the end of October for a five-week inspection period.  Correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask you, how does this -- does this impact your forecast February 2019 EA approval date?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, it doesn't.  So the genesis of this letter was a conversation, a phone call that I had with Anna Maria Cross, who will be on the stand this Friday.  We had a telephone call, and I asked her if it was possible for MOECP to confirm our schedule and that -- our ability to make a February 2019.

So she sent this letter, which we filed.  We also had a conversation on the phone where they confirmed that February 2019 was appropriate -- an appropriate date for us to receive our approval from the Minister for the environmental assessment.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  So again -- but this letter doesn't --


MS. TIDMARSH:  This letter does not.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- point to February 2019 being reasonable?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It does not.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I guess we can ask her about the phone call.  All right.

Now, if we turn to page 17 of the compendium.  You were asked by a number of parties this question, but you were asked if there had been any changes in NextBridge's construction costs estimate, if you could please provide detailed explanation of the change in the costs.

And as I read your response, essentially you were saying, well, you still believe they will be within the Class 2 cost estimate; that is, plus five to plus 20, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So that's correct, but this line here, that plus five to plus 20, we erroneously did not include the lower end of the estimate of what a Class 2 AACE is, which is minus 15 to minus 5 percent.  Unfortunately, we did not -- we left out that part in our answer.

So the estimate should have a complete range of the low and the high end.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you help me understand what is your updated cost forecast?

MR. MAYERS:  For the total, 737 plus/minus 10 percent.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Do you have a more specific number than that range?  I mean, what is your best -- what is your best estimate based on where we are right now with what your expectation for the costs to be, with the -- you said that you had to rejig the construction schedule with your EPC contractor to meet the in-service date.  I am just trying to understand -- and there has obviously been changes in the EA dates -- what is your -- what is the best estimate of the cost estimate?

MR. MAYERS:  737, plus/minus 10 percent.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you have not -- do I take it then that internally you have not determined -- you have not revised your own construction schedule since last summer?

MR. MAYERS:  We have not -- we have not published anything.  We have talked about it.  We have talked with our contractor.  We have looked at the revision in the schedule, but, no, we're comfortable with the numbers that we have today.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand you have not published anything.  I am asking you, what have you internally discussed?  What is your best estimate now --


MR. MAYERS:  Well, it is --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- over a year later.

MR. MAYERS:  It is scenario analysis.  I mean, as these delays continue to happen, we keep looking at what the impact might be.  I mean, it is typical project management.  You are constantly looking at, okay, I didn't get -- I didn't get my leave to construct.  I didn't get -- my EA is going to be delayed.  So what is the impact of that?  How much schedule time do I still have?  You talk it over with your contractor.  You start looking at alternative means and methods to get the work done.

And as we continue to review and talk through the issues, we still come back to the same thing, that we're comfortable with our 737 number and we're comfortable with a plus/minus 10 percent.

MS. TIDMARSH:  I think, if I could add to that as well, we have a signed EPC contract with fixed price, and so having conversations with our general contractor, again, we've had conversations about this price and the changing milestones.

I think the other non-E&C parts of this, non-engineering construction parts, the scope is still fixed.  We still have progressed this project to the point where we are shovel-ready and we know the scope, we know that we are going to get our environmental assessment in the next few months.  We know how many expropriations we can anticipate after all of the land work we have done.  We know what our Aboriginal participation agreements include.

And so the scope for this project is well-defined, and as part of that scope we have a well-defined cost, and that cost is 737, plus or minus 10 percent.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if we turn to page 2 of the compendium -- this is the Staff summary document -- we know Hydro One updated their construction schedule in response to the interrogatory responses.

So for NextBridge's 737 number, do you see that there?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We do.

MR. MAYERS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Should we replace that with an $811 million, which is the 737 plus 10 percent?

MR. MAYERS:  No.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Help me understand, when the Board is going to ultimately -- or parties are trying to decide which is the better, what is the number that they should utilize for NextBridge?

MR. MAYERS:  737 plus or minus 10 percent.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So then just for clarity, the plus or minus 10 percent is part of an AACE class 2 estimate, and as Mr. Mayers talked about earlier in our opening statement, we're on the cusp of an AACE class 1, and once we receive the environmental assessment we're -- over 90 percent of our design work is complete.  And so to reflect this as well, there's also -- Hydro One has an AACE Class 3 estimate, which is obviously not as certain as NextBridge's number.

And so the numbers here are still the same, 737 plus or minus 10 percent.

MS. WALDING:  And if you wanted to replace numbers on here, the 624 with an AACE estimate would be 835, for 30 percent, for Hydro One.

MR. MAYERS:  Just to reiterate, as Ms. Tidmarsh mentioned, we have a practically baked -- and I will give you an analogy.  We have a project that we're kind of waiting for the timer to go off.  Everything has been -- all of the ingredients have been put together into it.  We are waiting for a few additional moments, and that would be the EA, the conditions associated with that EA.  We have done our due diligence, we have completed 90 percent of the engineering.

We have an access plan.  We have talked to all of the stakeholders.  We know what's required to get this work done, and that's why we have this confidence level that it is an adjustment in schedule, but it is not an adjustment in the cost.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You were discussing with respect to the schedule changes because the delays in the EA and the leave to construct that you are going to need to adjust how the project is -- Valard is going to have to adjust how the project is executed, probably going to have to change the order of things.  Did I generally have that --


MR. MAYERS:  That's correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And is that going to require a change order with Valard to execute?

MR. MAYERS:  No.  Now, the only thing that may change would be a milestone.  There are milestones in our contract.  There will be adjustments to milestones.  Everybody has specific dates and targeted dates throughout their contracts, and there will need to be adjustments related to that, because we won't be starting when we had anticipated.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  May I ask you to turn to page 33?  This is your response to --


MR. BROTT:  I was just going to add, if you look at section 9.5.1 of our contract, we have actually added mechanisms into the contract to make variations in it like this.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Turn to page 33.  This is your response to Hydro One Interrogatory No. 11.

You were asked, given the NextBridge requires -- this is part (a):
"Given that NextBridge required a July 2018 approval of its leave-to-construct application to meet its 2020 in-service date and to do so at the cost set out in its leave-to-construct application, please advise of the impact on the construction schedules and on the cost of construction of not receiving a decision of the OEB on the NextBridge's leave-to-construct application until December of 2018."

Do you see that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I do see that question, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Flipping over to the response, you say:
"If the OEB grants NextBridge's leave to construct in December 2018, NextBridge would start construction in the spring of 2019.  Any increase in the cost of construction would be a function of",
and then you continue to discuss what those functions are.

Based on what you have just said to me, it seems to me -- why does your response here say any increase, and not there will be no increase?

MR. MAYERS:  We're holding the line on the 737.  We don't know what we don't know right now as to what additional conditions may require an increase in the costs of the project.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Holding all things equal and the only things that are changing were the adjustment for the EA approval in February and the leave to construct in December, should there be any cost increases?

MR. MAYERS:  There potentially could be.  That's why you give a plus/minus.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I am just trying to say -- well, so you don't know that it will be 737, correct?  There may actually be cost increases because of the delay in the leave-to-construct application?

MR. MAYERS:  Sure.

MS. WALDING:  The 737 is our best estimate, though, right now.

MR. MAYERS:  That is the information we have at this time.

MS. WALDING:  And it is based off of a good schedule that we feel very good about, that we have had discussions with our contractor and that we feel is very manageable.

MR. BROTT:  We're also betting on ourselves to solve these problems as they come up in the field. So that is why there is also a minus on there.

So as we encounter problems, we figure out innovative ways to solve them.  So it doesn't necessarily mean if you run into something different, your cost is going to go up.

MS. WALDING:  Mr. Mayers, you may want to talk about how we project manage, too, to handle those kind of situations, and it is not left all up to our contractor.

MR. MAYERS:  Well, I mean, it's like any contract, and I think everybody has seen the contract, or a redacted version of the contract.  But in general, there are process management steps inside of a contract.

We have steps for cost increases, as Mr. Brott just mentioned.  If indeed they materialize, you have to have some mechanism for that.  But you also have means and methods like, you know, constant monitoring of the contractor.  We have a construction management team that will be in the field with our contract management.

Unlike HONI here, who, you know -- our oversight, if you look at our division of responsibilities, we take pride in the fact that we manage the contractor day-to-day while we're in the field.  So we have construction offices in the field.  They meet with the contractor on a daily basis.  They review their safety protocols.

When there is an issue, let's say that there's a specific problem, we're there to address that issue day in and day out.  We have technical support both within NextBridge and with Burns and MacDonnell to support it.

All of these things combine to oversee the contract and ensure that we come up with innovative solutions, as Mr. Brott mentioned, to try to prevent any cost increases.  And there is also mechanisms in there, as you said, to prevent any form of escalation or -- well, escalation in this case because of schedule delays, weather delays.

The contractor takes on a lot of that risk.  We've shifted a lot of the risk to the contractor, much like HONI has done.

Our risk is tied up in their day-to-day activities.  When there's weather conditions, we don't give him schedule relief on that.

So, you know, it is up to him to manage his people, manage the contract.  We work in concert with them on the on the day-to-day activities related to this work.

MS. WALDING:  And we project manage in this way because we have billions of dollars' worth of other construction projects.  And so we know that this is a proven method of execution for contracts.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If you could turn to page 30 of the compendium, this is a transcript reference from transcript volume 2.  I am having a conversation with Hydro One and this is about the station's project.

And I ask, and I said beginning at line 11:
"I understand you're saying you can have it by 2021.  I am just asking what month is the best estimate of you're going to be able to complete the stations."

And Mr. Reinmuller says:   "Currently, we are forecasting by December 2021."

I understand from the opening statements that you take issue with Hydro One's delay, but let's assume that that is what will occur.  What is the impact on your construction costs with respect to now not being able to bring the line into service until December 2021?

MR. MAYERS:  I can speak to the E and C portion of it and there will be no change.  It would be the 737 plus/minus 10 percent.  Ms. Walding may want to speak to the IDC.

MS. WALDING:  The only thing with going to a 2021 project is that there will be additional interest during construction, and we do not believe that that should be our cost.  We believe that that should be part of the Hydro One cost for missing the station in-service date of 2020.

You know, NextBridge has put a lot of risk into maintaining the 2020 in-service date because we thought that that was what was ordered, and what customers for Ontario were wanting.

So we have put a lot of risk to try to maintain that and have done a lot of schedule changes to try to maintain that.  And so, to the extent that Hydro One pushes the project to 2021, that incremental interest during construction should be subject to them on the station work.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Do you have a forecast of what that incremental amount would be?

MS. WALDING:  I did a forecast and, I mean, it could be ten, fifteen million dollars.  And that is -- that's without knowing the exact schedule or spend of dollars.  But that is just a simple forecast.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can we turn to page 71?  You were asked to provide in the May 7th technical conference an undertaking with respect to what your sunk costs would be, assuming by the end of July 2018, assuming you would not receive approval.

As I understand your response here, you estimate the post leave-to-construct application costs to be about 23.5 million.  That is the total of the 15 million and the 8.5 million.  Do you see that?

MS. WALDING:  Yes.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, we do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we flip over to page seventy -- just so I understand what you were saying here, you were forecasting you would have about $23.5 million in construction costs to the end of July 2018?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we go to page 73, you were asked, with respect to the additional interrogatories from VECC, to provide a table showing your current construction costs net of development costs in a table that they had provided.  So essentially the construction costs, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What you had provided by the end of July is actually you had spent not 23.5 million as you forecasted, but you had spent $27 million, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So just at the start of the project construction phase, you have already spent 16 percent more than you had forecast for that same time period, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So we have spent -- we have spent those funds in order to ensure that we can achieve a December 2020 in-service date.

And so since our leave-to-construct application well over a year ago, we have always been striving to ensure that we reach a December 2020 in-service date, and that we stay within budget of the 737 that we have forecast for the project.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand that.  But based on at least the forecast you had provided in around -- in, I believe, May or June, for just a couple of months, you were going to spend about 23 and a half.  You ended up spending 27.

Can I conclude from that that you already -- that the likelihood, if we forecast that out for the entire project, you are going to be spending more than the $737 million?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, we won't.  We will actually -- we are still tracking towards our budget.

And so the funds that we've spent, again were on -- were prudent to ensure that we are moving towards 2020.  So there are costs in there that would include working with our general contractor.  There are costs in there that are advancing our environmental assessment.

There are costs in there for advancing our land options, ensuring that we have reduced the number of expropriations.  Also costs have included working with First Nations and Métis communities on consultation and participation.

MR. BROTT:  And in addition, you can't look at that in a vacuum, either.  You also have to look at the work done to date as well, and you have to understand that we have completely performed reconnaissance on our entire access plan this summer.

So our access plan, to use Mr. Mayers' analogy, is fully baked at this point.  We put boots on the ground for the entire thing.  We have done almost 100 percent of the water-body crossing, fish studies required by the MNRF this summer.  So I think we have actually done -- if you look at the amount of work done to the amount of the budget, we're ahead of it.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, I understand -- I am not asking you to bring this up, but you have provided, I believe, in response to JT1.2 a detailed risk register that you have developed for the construction phase, correct?  You have one?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, we do have that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we can turn to page 24.  This is again from the May 7th technical conference.  This is a conversation I was having with Mr. Gill.  Do you see that on the page?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I do, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I was summarizing to him what I understood from some previous discussions and the evidence how you went about developing your contingency amounts.  And I understood what you did was, what you did is you determined what the -- based on past practices what contingencies, amounts you would normally apply to certain sub-elements of the project, you made certain adjustments based on the specifics of this project, and then you aggregated up to get an overall contingency amount.

Do I have that correct?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so what you don't do is you don't take the risk register and do a formal Monte Carlo analysis to determine what the appropriate contingency is to get to a certain confidence level.

MR. MAYERS:  No, that's never been our practice at NextEra.  We do our own internal -- we have our own proprietary means and methods of doing our estimates.  We do that across, as I said, wind, solar, transmission, new power plants, pipelines, and we manage our budgets every year.  We spend between 4 and 10 billion dollars every year, and we manage those budgets to be within plus or minus 1 percent.

So we're pretty confident in the way we do our estimating.  We don't believe we need Monte Carlo simulations to do that work.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  We don't know what -- based on your method, we can't determine what the confidence level that you've built in the proper amount of contingency.

MR. MAYERS:  I believe I just tried to explain the confidence level should be that internally at NextEra and at NextBridge we manage our projects to within -- at NextBridge, I'm sorry, at NextEra, we manage our projects to within plus or minus 1 percent.  And we don't miss our targets.

MS. TIDMARSH:  And also, if I could, on the response to Staff IR 50, we go ahead and update our risk profile, and you can see that in most of those risk profiles as we go through since the risk -- that response was actually filed -- we -- a lot of our project risk has been reduced.  So with the amount of permitting field studies that we have done we have reduced the amount of conversations we've had with landowners, the number of expropriations.  We have reduced the risk of expropriations.  Again, our Indigenous consultation and participation work.  So since the filing of the environmental assessment and since the filing of the leave to construct, we have reduced quite a number of our risks across the project.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I assume with respect to schedule it would be the same response.  You don't do a Monte Carlo analysis to determine the likelihood that you will bring the project in-service for a given date.  Correct?

MR. BROTT:  So a Monte Carlo analysis is only as good as what you put into it.  So if you have a very not-well-baked project with a lot of bad assumptions, you can do a Monte Carlo simulation and it is not going to be worthwhile.

So what we do is used over billions of dollars in projects, and we're very confident in what we put in there for contingency.

MS. WALDING:  In addition, we're also using the independent AACE method for establishing our estimates as well.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just want to separate out -- you were talking about costs.  I have your response.  I am just asking with respect to the schedule, correct, you also don't do that analysis?

MR. BROTT:  The answer is no.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you.

Now, compared to the Hydro One LSL project, the split of responsibilities between NextBridge and your EPC contractor, Valard, and Hydro One and its EPC contract, SNC-Lavalin, are different, correct?

MR. MAYERS:  Do you have a cite?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, which page of your compendium?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I can take you to the compendium, but is that your understanding as well, that you --


MR. MAYERS:  I'm sorry, the question was do we have a division of responsibilities?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, my understanding that there is a difference in division of responsibility between Hydro One and SNC and NextBridge and Valard.

MR. MAYERS:  Absolutely.  And as I explained earlier, that one of the major drivers of that is that we manage the contractor in the field.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So just for ease, on page 35 through 37 we've prepared a table.  Just for the Board's understanding of what this table is, at the beginning of page 39 through 42, Hydro One, in attachment A to its EPC contract, provided a table of activities and splits in between Hydro One and SNC.

We had asked -- and you can see this beginning at page 43 -- for NextBridge to essentially do the same thing between itself and its EPC contractor, Valard.

And this table that I put together beginning at page 35 to 37 essentially just puts them side by side so we can see the division of responsibilities.

So I think, as you were saying -- and I take it -- and you can see this -- I have just highlighted many of the differences here -- that you are taking on more of the work than Hydro One is, correct?

MR. MAYERS:  That's a fair statement, yes.  Because that is -- that's what we like to do.  We like to stay engaged in our projects.  You stay engaged in your project, you know when things are falling behind, you know when your schedule is going off the rails, you know when your costs are going to increase.  That's why we make it a point to stay engaged all the time.  We stay in their business.

MS. WALDING:  And we don't wait for a change order coming from our contractor.  That is why we're in the field.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So am I correct you similarly, with Hydro One, have a fixed-price EPC contract with your EPC contractor?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes, we do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So ultimately, if you are doing more of the work, I would take it that you're bearing more of the risk than Hydro One is.

MR. BROTT:  I don't think we're doing more of the work.  That is not the right word.  But we are there with oversight.  We're providing more oversight to the work.  So we can see if something goes wrong early and suggest, you know, ways to repair it early before it becomes systemic and goes throughout the project and you have to spend more money in the long run.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand you think your approach is better.  I just want to be clear.  As I understood what was just discussed, you are taking on more of the activities than Hydro One is, correct?

MR. BROTT:  Not the work activities, no.  The oversight activities.  There is a difference there.  We're not going to put a shovel in the ground, we are not going to install a foundation, we are not going to install a structure.  But if we see something not being installed correctly then we will -- we can fix it right then and there, and as I said, it doesn't become systemic.

MR. MAYERS:  We will have a construction manager in the field.  We will have construction inspectors in the field.  So the intent there is to -- again, the EPC contractor responsible for the work, he is responsible to ensure that the work gets done properly, but we have a vested interest in QA, QC.  We believe that that is paramount, safety is paramount.  And if a project starts to come off the rails it is usually because it has got a poor safety record and because it's got some quality issues.

And you start multiplying those quality issues over a number of foundations, or a number of tower erections, and you will find yourself, you know, having to go back and redo work.  Redo of any work, whether it becomes an argument with the contractor, who is responsible for it, costs money and time.

You know, what is important to us is cost, schedule, and reliability.  And without those things -- without our construction management in the field, we feel like it puts you in a very uncomfortable situation to get a project done within the cost parameters that you have laid out.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  One of the things I understand that you are doing -- NextBridge is doing more of than Hydro One is the engineering portion.  Is that your understanding as well?

MR. BROTT:  Yes, yes.

MR. MAYERS:  I'm sorry, Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  One thing I understand that NextBridge is doing more than Hydro One, for example, is you're doing more of the engineering work than Hydro One is doing.

MR. MAYERS:  That's correct.  We hired one of the premier engineers on this, Burns & McDonnell, and they have been on it since the initiation of the project.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So with respect to risks that can arise from engineering, you are going to bear -- NextBridge is going to bear more of the risk than, say, Hydro One is?

MR. BROTT:  That's true, but we can also optimize, find efficiencies that gives us other abilities as well.  It gives us more flexibility in the design.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And --


MR. MAYERS:  We have used Burns & Mac on many, many projects.  They have done a lot of work here in Canada, particularly with this contractor as well.  So we are confident that, yes, you may call it additional risk that we have to bear, but we're confident that that is not a risk, that is a concern.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But if those risks do turn into a concern, that's costs that would not be included in the fixed-price contract for you?

MR. BROTT:  So --


MR. MAYERS:  You're asking about unknowns and in this particular case, we're at, like I said, 90 plus percent on our engineering.  We're very confident.  We've had towers that have been designed, tested, tested to failure.

You know, I don't know how many times we can say that we're confident that where we're at, including the engineering related to this, that the risks are minimal.

MS. TIDMARSH:  I would also include beyond the construction part of the contract.  You can see the division of labour is also some of our environmental work as well, right.

So we have, as Mr. Brott mentioned, we have done all of our field reconnaissance, our boots on the ground done.  We will have our aquatic surveys done at the end of this month that will be able to -- and we're doing draft permits with MNRF, so all of our permitting.  So we are far advanced in our comprehensive list of all of the permits we are going to need and moving those forward.

So we have reduced risk in that way as well.

MR. BROTT:  I would like to make one more point as well.  So the Burns & Mac team and the Valard team on this project have worked together on other projects.  We are very familiar with the interface between the two and that, in itself, is going to make everything go a lot smoother than if you had to -- an engineer and constructor that had never worked together before.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My understanding is Hydro One is SNC is doing both, so –

MR. BROTT:  I'm sorry?  What was that?

MR. RUBENSTAEIN:  My understanding with respect to Hydro One is that SNC is doing both of those activities.

MR. MAYERS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that wouldn't be an issue for them, correct?

MS. WALDING:  But I think also, too, you can probably talk about how they oversee each other's work, too, that they look over each other's work and that is a safety caution for us.

MR. MAYERS:  We don't like to let the fox guard the henhouse.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I look back to the EA approval date of February 2019.  As I understand, you're expecting the leave-to-construct decision by the end of this year, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that means the leave-to-construct issue will come out before the EA approval, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It will, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If the Board decides to grant Hydro One's leave-to-construct decision and not your decision -- not your project, would you still allow the NextBridge EA to continue along to its approval process?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you explain when you say that, what would you do?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So our -- the mechanisms on how we would not progress the project, or progress our environmental assessment would it would be something that MOECP could discuss.

However, we have put quite a lot of money at risk on this project to date, and we're at almost 75 million on this project, including our development funds.

And so we -- to go ahead and continue spending on an environmental assessment where we were not the chosen proponent would not be appropriate.  And so we would cease work on moving our environmental assessment forward.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But I assume by that point, there is really nothing for you to do.  You're just waiting on the minister to make a decision.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.  And so there is also the five-week public comment period that still would be open once you get the notice of completion.

And so NextBridge would potentially pull its environmental assessment.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that is a question I want to ask.  I understand you may not spend money to further it, but would you actively write a letter to the minister withdrawing the EA application?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you would still seek recovery of the EA costs, correct, from ratepayers?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, because we have been moving towards a December 2020 in-service date, and so we have been spending our funds to ensure that there is a December 2020 in-service date.  And if we were not the chosen proponent, then we had been spending prudently to make those dates and we would seek recovery as well.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  There was a lot of discussion at the motion hearing, and I believe in NextBridge's -- your cross to Hydro One about potential copyright issues with Hydro One's use of the NextBridge EA.  Do you recall those conversations generally?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I do, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is it NextBridge's position that the proposed course of action of Hydro One, as they're currently undertaking or expect to undertake as set out in the evidence, raises a copyright issue?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It does, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Have you provided that position to the MOECP?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We have let the MOECP know that the environmental assessment contains intellectual property of NextBridge's.  And so to be clear, the course that Hydro One is using is using all of the public information.  And so I think they've gone through you our draft EA, our amended EA, our final comments, and I think that they've got the public information.

But you can't build a project on the environmental assessment.  You build the project on the data that's been provided underneath from all of the field studies, from all of the traditional land use studies, from all of the work that's done underneath that you use to obtain permits.

So the environmental assessment itself is not a key part of what drives the project.  In our case, we've done all of the field studies ourselves, and so we know what we need to permit the project and to move the project forward.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I just want to be clear.  With respect to the public information that at least I understand they're utilizing, or they want to utilize from the NextBridge EA, it's your view that that is a copyright issue from NextBridge's point of view?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I am not aware on how they're going to use it, if it is a copy and paste situation or not. I am unaware of how Hydro One would use it.  But there is public information that people can obtain.  But I don't know how they plan on using that public information and how they would incorporate it into their own environmental assessment.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we can turn back to page 15 of the compendium, back to your letter, Ms. Tidmarsh, to the ministers.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, which page, Mr. Rubenstein?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Page 15.

MS. TIDMARSH:  One-five, not five-zero.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I can take you to the third paragraph on that page.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You say -- this is, I believe, the third sentence, and you say:
"The construction plan has tower fabrication beginning in September 2018, access roads and clearing beginning in November 2018, and tower foundation installation and tower assembly beginning in January 2019, all necessary to make the 2020 in-service date."

If I can just stop you there for a second, have you begun the tower fabrication in September?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So what we've done -- and I will let Mr. Mayers continue -- is we have actually, since the writing of this letter on July 24th, we have dialled back our spending.  However, we continue to spend to ensure a December 2020 date.

So there are some things that we continue to spend on and some things that we have dialled back, and we have had -- once we've gone through our schedule, and you can see our schedule that was filed September 24th, we looked to ensure that there may be some buffer time on when we can go ahead and do the towers.

So I will go ahead and add Mr. Mayers.

MR. MAYERS:  So as far as the tower fabrication goes, we have let a RFP.  We have bids back and we have evaluated the bids.  We have two players right on top of each other on price.

But we can't commit to anything, of course, because we don't have a leave to construct and, you know, we're also waiting to see if, as far as the delay, if there would be any cost impact to the delay in time.

But as of right now, the numbers that we have seen are below our estimated amounts that we had estimated for the tower fabrication and delivery.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just to be clear, you haven't done that yet?

MR. MAYERS:  We have not, no.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then it says access roads and clearing beginning in November 2018.  I assume you won't be doing that by November 2018?

MR. MAYERS:  No, but we have completed a complete review of the access plan.  So our contractor now knows exactly where he is going to go, how he is going to access every tower, and the subsequent environmental impacts are also assessed.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Then then the tower foundation installation and assembly beginning in January 2019, I assume that won't occur in January 2019?  Or am I incorrect?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No.  So NextBridge can't begin any construction activities until it has gotten its leave to construct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So when it says "all necessary to make the 2020 in-service date", that is not - actually correct any more?

MR. MAYERS:  At that time.

MS. TIDMARSH:  At that time.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Then the next sentence says:
"NextBridge has spent more than sixty million on this project through the end of June 2018 and costs are continuing to mount."

Then you say:
"Large financial commitments will need to be made in September to progress to a November 2018 construction start date."

Can I ask what did you at the time -- what were the large financial commitments you were taking about?

MR. MAYERS:  That would have been the foundation -- sorry, the structure.  We would have had to go into an award for the towers themselves.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Then if we skip --


MR. MAYERS:  Ms. Walding, do you have anything to add?

MS. WALDING:  It was that and we pushed up some conductor costs, too.

MR. MAYERS:  Yes.  We have the materials that need to be ordered, but the towers are the key upfront, but as far as conductors, overhead ground wire, optical ground wire, and the contractor's materials, those have very short lead times.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And if we skip to another sentence you say:

"Absent a clear path forward, NextBridge would be compelled to seek recovery of the costs it has incurred to date without seeing a single shovel in the ground."

Do you see that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I do, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So what I take away from that is if you are not granted leave to construct you would seek costs in addition to the development costs?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We would, yes.  We have been incurring costs to ensure a December 2020 in-service date, and so we have prudently incurred those costs in order to meet that date.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask you what those costs would be, if you have an estimate of what those amounts would be?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So our $40 million that are part of our development spend, and then to date we have spent $34 million to the end of September.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And do you have a forecast, rough forecast, of what that would be by the end of December?  When the Board would have its leave-to-construct decision forecasted?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So we have actually dialled back our spending, and so in one of our Board decks I believe we talk about our capital calls, and we're looking at a very low run rate from now until the end of the year, probably under $8 million, I believe.  I think we're looking at about a million dollars a month --


MS. WALDING:  About a million to a million and a half a month.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  So 34 million I think takes you to when?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So 34 million takes us to the end of December -- sorry, end of September.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then we add 8 million in October, November, December?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that is an additional $24 million, roughly?

MS. WALDING:  I don't think it is 8- going through December.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So we're saying our month -- on a high end, a million and a half per month.  So for October, November, and December that would be 4.5.  So it would
be -- for clarity, so 40 million in development, 34 million spent at the end of September, plus 4.5, if we -- a run rate of about a million and a half a month until the end of December.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I get about 39-, $40 million.

MS. WALDING:  That's right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  In addition to the development costs?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Correct.

MS. WALDING:  That's right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  If I can ask you to turn to page 64 of the compendium, and this is a table the Board has seen before.  It is the comparison of the costs with an explanation of the differences.  You have seen this as well?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I am.  Sorry, I am having a little bit of trouble hearing you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry.  And I just want to ask about a couple of the items.  Two of the biggest items when I look through the Hydro One and the NextBridge cost estimates -- and I recognize Hydro One has made some small adjustments to these since NextBridge provided their response -- are in the materials and equipment and the site-clearing and access categories.  Those are the two big categories where Hydro One's costs are significantly lower.  Would you agree with that?

MR. MAYERS:  On paper.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so I take it from that
response -- and your explanation -- you doubt the accuracy of those forecasts, correct?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I could ask you about first with respect to materials and equipment and site-clearing.  My understanding from the questioning of Hydro One is both of those categories are contained fully within their fixed-price contract.  Is that your understanding of their response?

MR. MAYERS:  That's my understanding.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So ultimately if you are correct and they have understated those costs, wouldn't that be an issue for their contractor, not for Hydro One?

MR. MAYERS:  Absolutely.  That's why the contract is probably not signed today.

MS. WALDING:  And in addition, it has the flexibility to have change orders if there are regulatory or government changes.  And so we anticipate that their project, because it is not very well-developed, will have a lot of change orders.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand, but let's just take a look at the materials and equipment.  Assuming there is no change -- regulatory outcomes that would shift the cost in those areas, ultimately, if you are right and Hydro One has under-forecasted, that is a problem for SNC and not a problem for Hydro One and the ratepayers, correct?

MR. BROTT:  I would add that if -- had we disregarded the minimum technical requirements, the OEB's minimum technical requirements, our cost would be lower for our towers and our foundations, and it would be closer to this cost.

And I would also add that that is a reliability concern, which is part of the Board's purview.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, back up for a second.  Is it your position that they have not met the --


MR. MAYERS:  No, it is not our position.  Let me clarify.  So there is a $40 million gap there today, okay?  We've seen tower pricing.  We've gone globally to see tower pricing, okay?  I can't go into the details of it.  I am telling you that there's a lot of that money chewed up.

So they still have to buy conductor, they have to buy optical ground wire.  They have to buy insulators.  They have got to buy the hardware.  They have got to buy the grounding supplies.  They have got to buy the steel for the concrete.  There is a lot of money missing in this estimate.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I understand that, but you would agree with me then that is a problem for SNC-Lavalin.

MR. MAYERS:  Well, no.  It is not a problem for anyone today, because they don't have a signed contract.  That contract is meaningless up until the day it is signed.  That means there can be changes made to it.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And am I correct that with respect to your relationship with Valard, with respect to materials and equipment, Valard is not -- that's not entirely contained within the fixed-price contract, correct?

MR. MAYERS:  They have a portion of the materials.  They're responsible for the insulators, all of the conductor hardware, the guying, the anchors, the foundation, steel, any hardware.  That is their portion of it.

I don't recall the total dollars, but it's --


MR. BROTT:  I would say subject to check around 10 million of that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So 10 million of that, I think you are forecasting 89 million?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So ultimately the vast majority of those material and equipment costs are actually costs that you will have -- you are procuring, not Valard, correct?

MR. MAYERS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So ultimately because it is not contained within the fixed-price contract, that is a risk for NextBridge.  Correct?

MR. MAYERS:  That's correct.  But we are also getting it to you cheaper because we don't mark up the price.

MS. WALDING:  In addition, we already have the bids for the towers too, Mr. Mayers.

MR. MAYERS:  Yes.

MS. WALDING:  So -- go ahead.

MR. MAYERS:  I'm sorry.  And we have pricing for the other equipment.  We have always had pricing for the other equipment.  We go out -- we buy hundreds of miles of conductor every year on all of our wind, solar, other competitive transmission projects.

So, you know, as I said, we buy 4- to $10-billion worth of equipment every year.  We are very confident in the pricing of our materials, and we believe we get the lowest price, you know, or a very low price.  I am not saying that SNC might not be able to get low price.  All I'm saying is we get good competitive pricing.  So we're very confident in our number.

We also, as we have gone through the contracting portion of it, and we have allocated what we're comfortable, as far as from a risk perspective, what the contractor should procure versus what we should procure.  We do this on every project.  We always buy the structures, the conductor, the optical ground wire, and the overhead ground wire, and we leave the rest to the contractor.

MS. WALDING:  In addition, can you just add a little bit more, Mr. Mayers, about how you would mitigate risk on that, about once we receive a LTC that we might be able to go ahead and purchase those materials so that there wouldn't be a lot of time lapse.

MR. MAYERS:  Well, yes.  As I said, the longer we delay, there's the potential for price increases, right?  We can't lock anything down now.  As soon as we get a LTC, that will be the first thing we do, is lock down our pricing with all of our major materials.

Again, we don't expect to see any significant changes.  We monitor pricing.  We let the vendor do the hedging for us.  We don't go out and hedge our bets on material commodities.  The vendors do that.  Because we come back and we're buying from them all the time.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But from the ratepayers' perspective, ultimately there's more certainty with respect to materials costs under the Hydro One arrangement with SNC than your arrangement with Valard.  Correct?

MR. MAYERS:  As I said, based on their arrangement, with them assuming the risk, yes.  But I think their number is too low.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask you to turn -- let me ask you this first.  I think we had a discussion -- we would agree there's been a cost increase from the time of the developer -- the designated -- the development of -- sorry, the designation application to the leave to construct.  The construction costs have increased, correct?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes.  And a significant delay in the COD date.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I take it from your application you assume those cost increases are obviously reasonable?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We do, yes.

MR. MAYERS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you can understand that from the ratepayers' perspective, whoever is given leave to construct, if it's either NextBridge or Hydro One, ratepayers don't want to be in a similar situation two, three, four years down the line where the construction costs may be significantly more than either side had forecasted.  You can understand that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  From a ratepayer perspective, yes.

MR. MAYERS:  Absolutely.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you were asked by a number of parties beginning -- you can see this at page 21 -- sorry, not page 21.

Beginning at page 65, you were asked by SEC in SEC 21 if you are willing to have a not-to-exceed price, and then you were asked as well, at Staff 46, if you were willing to have some form of a not-to-exceed price.

Your response was simply no.  Do I have that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.  Our answer is no.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So considering this is a competitive process and the Board has to choose between two proponents, how do we -- how do they ensure ultimately ratepayers pay what either side has said is their forecast costs?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So since the time of designation, NextBridge's answer has always been no to a cost cap.  And so we continue that we will not do a do a not-to-exceed price or cost cap.

We have not seen a solid cost cap mechanism presented to this Board at all, and we are ready to construct now. We do have a plus or minus 10 percent, almost Class 1 AAC estimate.  And so the certainty that is around our Class 1 -- almost Class 1 estimate provides comfort that we are ready to go, and that we're ready to get this project going.

Cost capping or not-to-exceed prices, as you heard yesterday with Hydro One, are complicated.  It is never a black and white answer.  There is always a, you know, perhaps the Board this, perhaps this.  Here's a number.  I will add this.

And so we have not seen a black and white cost cap mechanism and to go ahead and put one together, we're ready to go now.  So we are not going to do a not-to-exceed price or a cost cap.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So ultimately, if your costs come in 10 percent higher or more it is what it is?  The Board will have to make that determination of the prudence at the time of --


MS. TIDMARSH:  At the time.  So we are -- any number that is over -- the typical purview of the Board is that any number that is over our construction costs when we come to our rate case, NextBridge is obviously ready to defend the costs on what we spent on the project at that time for the Board.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You would agree with me at that point, when we're in that proceeding, it is obviously too late to determine that say Hydro One should have built the line?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I --


MS. WALDING:  It is too late.  But I would also add that it's not going to be something that you wait until the end of the project and you know that there is a cost increase.  There's going to be communications that are going to the OEB that are going to be construction monitoring where we keep them apprised of what's going on.

And so to the extent that something is occurring, they will have a very -- you know, they will be engaged in it and they will have a heads-up of things that are occurring.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you remind me when you informed the Board, or when you knew yourself that your forecast construction costs would be significantly higher than the amount that you forecasted at the designation stage?

MS. TIDMARSH:  April 2017.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that's, what, four years later, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.  However, during our development stage of the process of the project, we again reported to the Board on a monthly basis, then a quarterly basis.

It was known to the Board that there would be an extra 35 months of project -- of delay of the in-service date.  In our May 2015 filing, we indicated that this would have an impact on the construction costs of the project.

And so once we had the general contractor on board and we had a secure price, we went ahead and filed our leave to construct.

And so our cost represents a market-tested price that we knew at the time.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you had known earlier there were probably going to be cost increases based on the park issue, and you couldn't go through the park and the OPA delay, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  But without actually a market-tested price from a general contractor, speculation on that cost, although we indicated that there would be speculation on how much the quantum of that would be wasn't known until we had our general contractor on board.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Lastly, if I could ask you to turn to page 76.  This is an update to Hydro One's JT2.25 where -- actually, it is an updated schedule for the Parks Canada approvals.  Do you see that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I do see that, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask you, based on this set of tasks that Hydro One believes they need to undertake, where were you essentially on this list when you found out you were not allowed to utilize the park?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I will start the answer and Mr. Brott, who was also on the project at the time, can chime in.

We sent in a -- we had done a construction execution plan.  So we had presented a plan to Parks Canada that discussed expanding the right-of-way, so similar to what Hydro One is proposing.

And so we were -- at that point in time, we had shown them the towers that we would use and we had a construction plan.  We showed the expanding of the right-of-way and Parks Canada got back to us and had let us know that due
to -- there's letters in there -- due to aesthetic and potential environmental reasons, that they were not supportive of us going through the park.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  So based on this, Hydro One has moved further down the -- I'd call it, I guess, the task list?

MS. TIDMARSH:  And so I think on this task list, a lot of these pieces are about the environmental assessment itself.

So for example, the draft table of contents for the EA, that's about a provincial EA, not about a federal EA.

They obtained environmental study work permits in accordance with studying the existing route.  And so we did not have an LOA because we did not have an existing route through the park.  And so we weren't able to obtain any scientific permits to study through the park, but they can only study their existing right-of-way.  So they do have that.

Like I said, the same reason they were allowed to have permits was the caribou study, this caribou study information collection permits.  But those are all because of their current agreement with Parks Canada for their current line.

MR. BROTT:  I guess to answer your question, that was in very early 2014 when we -- so we were designated the project in August of 2013, and we started consulting as soon as possible and we learned from Parks Canada in early 2014 that they were not -- I guess not happy with us going or routing.

It wasn't finalized or formalized until 2015, but at that point is when we started looking into reroutes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is it your view that Hydro One -- based on the evidentiary record that you have seen and materials that Hydro One has produced in their correspondence with Parks Canada, is it your view that they have moved farther down the process with Parks Canada than you were able to do?

MR. BROTT:  I think I heard yesterday the proof of the pudding is in the eating.

When they get their detailed project plan to Parks Canada through, I don't think anyone will know what Parks Canada will say until they see the details of that plan.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I recognize there is no approval until there is approval.

But just based on are they farther down the process than you got?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So the conversations that I have seen in e-mails that nominally approve the things that they're doing are -- they have been able to have those conversations because of their current line and because they have been able to obtain information about their current line.

And so because of that, they have an advantage because of the current project.  However, I don't see anything that advances them to the new project.  So anything that I have seen talks about the current, and not the new line.

But again, I am not privy to all of the conversations that they've had.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Fair enough.  Thank you very much, panel.  Those are all of my questions.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.  We're going to take our morning break until 11:20.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 11:00 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:26 a.m.

MS. LONG:  Please be seated.

Ms. DeMarco.
Cross-Examination by Ms. DeMarco:

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Panel, my name is Lisa DeMarco.  I represent Animbiigoo Zaagi'igan Anishinaabek and Bingwi Neyaashi Anishinaabek, BNA and AZA from here forth.

I would like to ask you some clarification questions on two aspects of your evidence.  The first is in relation to consultation.  The second is in relation to reliability, and I will be predominantly drawing my questions from, to, and around your evidence at Appendix 2(1)(b) relating to your Aboriginal consultation plan.

So first let me start -- and just confirm that you would agree with me that the duty to consult arises, first, as a function of the constitution?  Is that right.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. DeMARCO:  But also you've got specific duty-to-consult requirements pursuant to your environmental assessment.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, we do.

MS. DeMARCO:  And so if I can just walk you through what specifically is included or required in your view to discharge your duty to consult.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  We will go step by step.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  So first you are required to make First Nations aware of the proposed process for consultation and listen to their responses on that process; is that fair?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's fair.

MS. DeMARCO:  And did you do that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We did.  So we -- not only when we began our environmental assessment process, with our terms of reference, we, even before that, sent out notices to communities about our projects.  In each step of our environmental assessment we included notifications for communities.  We did quite a few community meetings where we went into communities, met with chief, council, and individuals, provided them the information that would be part of the environmental assessment.

MS. DeMARCO:  And how long did that take?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So we began our consultation efforts shortly after designation, I believe it was November of 2013 is when we began, and I can say that we're still doing it now.  So it is an ongoing process for every step of the environmental assessment.

MS. DeMARCO:  And approximately how much did that cost?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So there is a cost as part of our designation are the 40 million that went into our development.  Then we have also been spending since that time -- I believe we handed out our spend to date since September at the end of this year.  It was part of one of Mr. Rubenstein's questions.

MS. DeMARCO:  If I can just clarify.  Just in relation to that first step of making First Nations aware of the proposed consultation.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Oh, I don't think we broke it down by each and every step of consultation.  We see it as a package, I think.  It is a continuum.  And so to break it down, we are not able to break it down.

MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  I will have a series of questions.  I am very interested in that breakdown of each of the specific steps, so to the extent you can answer them I would appreciate if you could.

The second step, making First Nations aware of the proposed form that the consultation will take and listen to their views on that, would you agree that that is an essential element?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, it is, yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And did you do that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We did.  And so as part not only in our conversations with communities but also the filing of our consultation plan, that was worked on with input from First Nations communities.  So our consultation plan was filed with the OEB in January of 2014.

MS. DeMARCO:  And on that specific step, how long did that take?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So to put together the Aboriginal consultation plan, we would have begun -- it was part of our milestones that were part of the condition of our designation.  So we would have begun that immediately after designation, and then to the filing of January 2014.  So that is approximately four months.

MS. DeMARCO:  And how much did that specific element cost?  Do you have an assessment of that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We did.  At the time we did monthly reporting to the OEB.  It is part of our monthly reports.  I could take a look and find out what we spent in the first four months of the project.  The monthly reports are behind us if you would like me to look to that.

MS. DeMARCO:  Madam Chair, I know that you are not particularly keen on undertakings at this point, but I think the breakdown of each and every element of the duty-to-consult timing would be useful for the Board.

MS. LONG:  So can you go through all of the elements first and then we will discuss the undertaking?

MS. DeMARCO:  Certainly.  Perfect.

The next is in relation to facilitating or assisting with financial contributions or other capacity to participate.  You would agree that that is an element?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It is.  It is also part of our MOU with the Ministry of Energy on our overall duty to consult, not just the environmental assessment.  And so, yes, we have been providing capacity funding to the communities to help support the efforts.

MS. DeMARCO:  And then next, entering into a two-way dialogue with each and all of the potentially adversely affected First Nations?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.  NextBridge believes that it's definitely appropriate to have two-way dialogues as opposed to just sending letters or sending notices, actual conversations with communities, in some cases travelling to those communities with community meetings is appropriate.

MS. DeMARCO:  And then actually listening to and hearing the concerns and considering measures to potentially address those concerns or otherwise accommodate, that is another essential element of the duty to consult?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It is, and you can see, by our extensive consultation record that is part of our environmental assessment, and then those that were filed during these proceedings, these interrogatories as well, we've listened to communities.  We received a lot of feedback from our environmental assessment, and we have put those in our environmental assessment, addressed them, in some cases -- so for example, we've received a lot of input from communities about herbicide use, and so we address that in our environmental assessment specifically and talk about not using herbicides on reserve.

MS. DeMARCO:  I am going to come back to that point if I might, but just continuing with the duty to consult.  In relation to reacting to what you have heard, would you agree that that potentially changing the project or the proposal in response to what you heard is a critical element of the duty to consult and accommodate?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Definitely.  And so herbicides is one example of how we have changed our project plans based on that information.

MS. DeMARCO:  And last but certainly not least, the duty to consult would actually include explaining to Indigenous rights-holders how you believe their concerns have been addressed?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.  So we have done that, again, in our environmental assessment, but beyond the environmental assessment, we do that as part of this project.

MS. DeMARCO:  And that might potentially include a role for Indigenous stewards to assist in monitoring reporting?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.  We have hired Indigenous stewards as part of this project and intend to do so all throughout the project life.

MS. DeMARCO:  And so each and all of those elements are required to discharge the duty to consult?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, I agree with that.

MS. DeMARCO:  And so at this point, Madam Chair, I would be very interested in determining whether or not you would permit and NextBridge would give an undertaking to break down the timing and costs associated with each of those steps.

MS. LONG:  Are you able to do that, Ms. Tidmarsh?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I will confer for a second, if that's okay.

[Ms. Tidmarsh and Ms. Walding confer.]


MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, we're able to do that, and we believe we could have it done by Friday.

MS. LONG:  Okay, very good.  Perhaps you could just be clear.  I know one of -- I think Ms. DeMarco took you through -- the first issue was to make Indigenous communities aware of the process for consultation.  Then I think the second one was aware of the form of consultation.  And I think you said you could put together the costs for consultation for the first four months.

So I guess to the extent that those are not separated out, can you just be clear on what it is that you are showing us?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Definitely.  I would do it by milestone, so each project milestone I could track the consultation budget to each project milestone.

MS. LONG:  Does that work for you?

MS. DeMARCO:  That is helpful, thank you.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Let's mark that.

MS. DeMARCO:  And --


MR. MURRAY:  We will mark that as an exhibit -- sorry, an undertaking, J5.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J5.1:  TO BREAK DOWN THE TIMING AND COSTS ASSOCIATED WITH EACH MILESTONE OF THE CONSULTATION.

MS. DeMARCO:  And not to be provocative, but to be provocative, given that you have completed each and all of those activities, is it fair to assume that Hydro One may benefit from your work and achieve significant efficiencies both in the timing and cost of completing those activities?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's fair.  I think that because we have established a relationship with these communities and informed them all about the leave-to-construct process, and informed them about the environmental assessment and have been doing so for the past five years.

I think many communities are already up to speed on the project, and I think that Hydro One would benefit from that.

MS. WALDING:  But there is a relationship aspect to that that has established over the past five years as well.  That is hard to replace.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Or quantify.

MS. DeMARCO:  It was that quantification that was my next question.  And so do you have an assessment of the quantification of the efficiencies that they might be able to achieve, both in terms of timing and/or costs?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I think that when we provide the cost of each milestone of our project and our associated Aboriginal consultation budget, we could -- you could map that against Hydro One's project progression.

And so up to the point of where they file their leave to construct, or up to the point where they file their terms of reference, you could extrapolate that.

Otherwise, but all I know is the purview from my project and how our budget is being spent.

MS. DeMARCO:  So any assessment of the quantification of efficiencies would, I think, be useful to both my clients and the Board, should the Board wish to include that in the undertaking.

MS. WALDING:  I would think that it would be difficult for us to do that, and it would only be a guess.

MS. LONG:  I think what Ms. Tidmarsh is saying is that you may be able to extrapolate, Ms. DeMarco, but I don't think she is comfortable doing that.

MS. DeMARCO:  I am happy leaving it at that.

Let me talk specifically about what you heard and what might be heard in relation to specific First Nations concerns, and let's go back to that issue around chemicals and herbicides.

Did you, in fact, hear concerns around the use of herbicides and potential toxic effects?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We did, definitely.  It was one of the very first concerns that we heard from communities; it was top of mind.

So a lot of their communities have their trap lines, have traditional land uses in the area around the existing transmission line and around other projects that use -- that have herbicide use.  And so they were very concerned about understanding NextBridge's use of herbicides.

MS. DeMARCO:  And you would agree with me that Indigenous communities would like to decrease the use of herbicides; is that fair?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's fair.

MS. DeMARCO:  And increase the use of mechanical vegetation management; is that fair?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's fair.

MS. DeMARCO:  And they see this as incredibly important in the environmental assessment context; is that fair?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Definitely it is a prevalent theme in our environmental assessment, as well as a lot of the reports that communities provided to us as part of our traditional land use studies on the project, again another prevalent theme that we have incorporated into our environmental assessment.

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  My next series of questions relate to reliability, largely.

Would you agree with me that reliability in northern Ontario is generally worse than in Ontario on average?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So without being a system planner, anecdotally from what I have been -- in my discussions with local communities, both Indigenous, I have heard that reliability is an issue.  But again, I am not a system planner.

MR. BROTT:  I believe the IESO said that yesterday on the record.

MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  In your understanding, is it your view, as opposed to the IESO's, that the East-West Tie itself is intended to facilitate enhanced reliability in the area that it is located?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. DeMARCO:  And would you agree with me that electricity reliability in the First Nations' communities to be served or affected by the proposed East-West Tie line is very important to them?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, definitely.  A lot of communities that we have spoken to, not only for their own personal community use, but also for economic development opportunities.  In some cases, communities have their own businesses and have their own plans for economic development, and reliability definitely serves the their needs as well.

MR. MAYERS:  Can you give us a minute?

MS. DeMARCO:  And if we can --


MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, one second, Ms. DeMarco.

[Mr. Mayers and Ms. Tidmarsh confer]


MS. TIDMARSH:  Thank you.

MS. DeMARCO:  If we can just walk through some elements of traditional Aboriginal rights and life.  Would you agree with me that Indigenous communities hunt as part of their traditional practices?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, definitely.

MS. DeMARCO:  They angle?

MS. TIDMARSH:  They do.

MS. DeMARCO:  They harvest blueberries --


MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, they do.

MS. DeMARCO:  -- both for personal use, and for economic export?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, they do.

MS. DeMARCO:   The populations often have a higher incidence of diabetes; is that fair?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that is fair.

MS. DeMARCO:  And hence, there is a lot of insulin use in the communities; is that fair?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I would assume so, yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  Also the proportion of homes in Indigenous communities are largely electricity-heated; is that fair?

MS. TIDMARSH:  From my knowledge, yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  And in relation to the impact of long and frequent power outages, would you agree with me that meats harvested through the hunt could, in fact, be destroyed through freezers going out, or electricity going out?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that would be possible.

MS. DeMARCO:  And similarly, fish angled through traditional practices could be destroyed?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, I agree with that.

MS. DeMARCO:  And blueberries similarly spoiled?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Similarly, yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  Refrigerated insulin spoiled, and home heating disruptions?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, I agree with that.

MS. DeMARCO:  Would you agree with me that it would be very beneficial to Indigenous communities to remedy this situation as soon as possible, to remedy reliability issues as soon as possible?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, I would agree that reliability in the region would be beneficial for Indigenous communities.

MS. DeMARCO:  And regardless of who remedies the situation, the interests of Indigenous consumers with respect to reliability are best served by getting this line built promptly?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, I would agree with that.

MS. DeMARCO:  Those are my questions.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Ms. DeMarco.  Mr. Esquega?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Esquega:


MR. ESQUEGA:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. LONG:  You have a compendium, I think.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Yes, I do.  I have a compendium that I shared last evening, and also there is an additional page to it that was added earlier today.

MS. LONG:  Do you have that, panel?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I do, yes.

MS. LONG:  Let's mark the compendium first, and then the additional page.

MR. MURRAY:  We will mark the compendium as Exhibit K5.2, and the additional page as Exhibit K5.3.
EXHIBIT NO. K5.2:  BZA CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR NEXTBRIDGE PANEL 1
EXHIBIT NO. K5.3:  ADDITIONAL PAGE FOR BZA CROSS-EXAMINATION OF NEXTBRIDGE PANEL 1

MR. ESQUEGA:  Thank you.  I guess a lot of my questions will be directed to you, Ms. Tidmarsh, since I know you have been very involved with BZA recently in terms of consultation activities.

MS. LONG:  I'm sorry, Mr. Esquega.  Can you lean a little bit forward?  I am having trouble hearing you.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Can you hear that?

MS. LONG:  That is much better, thank you.

MR. ESQUEGA:  I would just like to pick up where we left off the last time, and just confirm you have had some consultations with BZA since, I guess, probably in July?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We did, yes, we had conversations.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Prior to my questioning of you in July at the development cost hearing, you mentioned you had a meeting with BZA back in May as well?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I did, yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And I understand that prior to these meetings, there had been some meetings for the purposes of the EA.

MS. TIDMARSH:  There had been, yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And they have provided comments and feedback on that process through their consultant, Shared Value Solutions.

MS. TIDMARSH:  They did.  They provided a report to NextBridge about our environmental assessment.

MR. ESQUEGA:  It appears to me that most of the consultation activity that has occurred has been focussed around the EA.  Is that fair to say?

MS. TIDMARSH:  To date, the environmental assessment is one of our largest milestones, and so I wouldn't say it was specifically around the environmental assessment.  I think when we have conversations with communities, they have gone above the environmental assessment and talked about the construction of the line, future operations.

So, yes, I think it is one major component, but there are other things we have discussed.

MR. ESQUEGA:  I guess the other things you discussed to a limited extent, I would suggest, is issues around participation.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, we have had conversations about participation.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And you are aware now that BZA's traditional territories are around the line?

MS. TIDMARSH:  The traditional territory of BZA that they have identified is around the line, yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And you are aware that BZA has an outstanding Aboriginal title claim as well?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We are, yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  When we look at your EA documents, so if I could point you to tab 1, it is not only BZA who is telling you that this is their traditional area where the line is going to be built.  It appears from your literature review that this has come up as well.  If you look at page 2, there is a summary of --


MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, page 2 of your compendium?

MR. ESQUEGA:  Yes.  Tab 1.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Which is page 6.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Page 4 of the environmental assessment?

MR. ESQUEGA:  Yes.  Tab 1.  Page 4, yes, sorry, it is page 4 of the compendium.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Okay, thank you.  That is what I was looking for.  Yes, page 4.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Then there is a summary down below concerning the literature review as it relates to Biinjitiwaabik Zaaging Anishnaabek.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Clearly in this review it suggests that BZA's traditional territory, the areas where they hunt and harvest animals, is in the Black Spruce Forest Management unit, which this report concludes is on the transmission line.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Let me just read that.  So:

"The preferred route right-of-way across the southern portions of the Black Spruce Forest Management unit and portions of the Indigenous current lands and resource use, LSA..."

Which is our local region and -- our local and regional are in this management area, so, yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  So clearly it is not just BZA's assertions that this is their traditional territory.  You have territory -- you have some other -- I guess other authors who have commented on this?  Agree?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Yes.  And if we take you to tab 2, there is a summary of the harvest and cultural uses, Table 7-33.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And with respect to BZA they're the third row down, and it confirms that all of the wild harvesting, fishing, plant and material harvesting, and cultural uses are activities and practices that occur within this route; is that right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. ESQUEGA:  If I could take you to tab 3, we have the meeting minutes from the May meeting, where you met with Chief Hardy and I believe one of your consultants.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And in that meeting you would confirm with me that the chief raised a number of concerns that he had with respect to the consultation activities to date?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Could you draw me to the sections that -- there is a few concerns in here, but there is a certain section.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Well, again, in the first paragraph, Chief Hardy notes for you that the project is in BZA's traditional territory.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, the last line; that's correct.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Chief Hardy expresses concerns at this meeting about the participation benefits that are being offered and the use of a corporation by the name of Supercom.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So at the time --


MR. ESQUEGA:  Are you aware of that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.  So at the time of this meeting in May there was a corporation called Supercom.  Supercom works with our general contractor, Valard, and provides opportunities to 18 -- to the 18 Indigenous communities that are identified in our MOU with the Ministry of Energy.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And Supercom, from what I understand, is owned and controlled by the six BLP First Nation communities?

MS. TIDMARSH:  They comprise the Board, yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  They comprise the Board?  Do they own it?

MS. TIDMARSH:  The BLP communities, Supercom, yes, this is a subsidiary of the BLP communities.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Does NextBridge have any ownership stake in Supercom?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, we don't.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And what about BLP?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We don't have any ownership in BLP.

MR. ESQUEGA:  So the chief raises concerns about Supercom being delegated the duty to provide participation opportunities to you at that meeting; is that fair to say?

MS. TIDMARSH:  He did, yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And I understand that you undertook to talk to Supercom to see if you can address his concerns.

MS. TIDMARSH:  We did.  We had meetings with Supercom.  We asked them -- so at the time of this May 4th meeting, Supercom and Valard had not yet put together a list of procurement opportunities for communities.  And so at this time of the meeting there had been training and -- there had been training done, and BZA has five individuals that were part of the training program.  But any of the procurements that would be offered to the 18 communities, that list had not been put together yet at this time.  The list has since been put together, and we presented that list of procurement opportunities in our September meeting with BZA.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And with respect to the training, you mentioned there are five BZA members who are trained.  However, I understand that the total number of people trained from the communities is a number of around 250.

MS. TIDMARSH:  From all of the 18 communities, yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  So clearly BZA has a very small percentage of the total trainees.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So each community self-identifies, and so the same amount of effort was put into letting each community know about the opportunities for training and employment.

And so Supercom has had an extensive program where they went to each community, provided information about the potential training, and so the uptake from BZA was not a function of what was offered to BZA but a function of self-identification for BZA members.

MR. ESQUEGA:  So you are not able to confirm that if 100 people self-identified from BZA that 100 people would have been trained?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I can't confirm that, because it is a hypothetical.

MR. ESQUEGA:  You have absolutely no idea as to how the five people were selected, right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  The five people weren't selected.  They self-identified.

MR. ESQUEGA:  So if 100 people showed up from BZA saying, "I am self-identified.  I want to get training for this project", you are suggesting that 100 people would have been trained?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I don't know, because that is a hypothetical situation, and the training has since been completed.  So I can't answer that.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Who is responsible for training?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So it was a partnership with Supercom and Confederation College.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And even though you are not -- even though NextBridge is not part of the Board or not part of the ownership of Supercom, you are able to speak with certainty as to how members were selected for training?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So in advance of this proceeding, I had a feeling that questions would come, and so I spoke to both Supercom and to Valard about the process that was gone through to identify community members for training.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And?

MS. TIDMARSH:  And so that is the answer that they gave me, that it was a self-identification, that they went to the communities, provided information, and so community members self-identified.  So that is the answer that they provided for me.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And in terms of the procurement opportunities that Supercom is offering, my understanding is that the BLP ownership communities have carved out their preferred contracts.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So the BLP communities that are part of Supercom have an agreement with Valard for certain contracting opportunities; yes, that's correct.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And so whatever those six communities have not carved out, that is going to be shared or potentially be shared among all of the 18 communities, including the BLP communities.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So we presented the list of those opportunities in September.  The amount of contracting opportunities in that list is approximately about $60 million.  And so the BLP communities do not have preferential procurement over those other contracting opportunities.  Those contracting opportunities are for the other Indigenous communities.

MR. ESQUEGA:  I understand that the other -- for the other Indigenous communities those numbers include the BLP communities as well.  So they could bid on not only the preferred contracts, but they could also go bid on the other opportunities as well.

MS. TIDMARSH:  But they're not provided any preferred bidding.  Preferred bidding goes to the other Indigenous communities for that approximately $60 million of contracting opportunities.

MR. ESQUEGA:  So if BZA were to bid and another BLP community were to bid, you're suggesting to me that BZA would get the bid over the --


MS. TIDMARSH:  BZA is preferred for that list of contracting opportunities over BLP communities, as long as it is appropriate for schedule and cost.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Is there any documentation by way of agreements or MOUs that set out this relationship that you are speaking of here today?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It is a relationship between Supercom and our general contractor, Valard.  I assume there is an agreement between the two, but obviously as the owner NextBridge is not privy to those agreements.

MR. ESQUEGA:  As the proponent of this project who has been delegated procedural aspects of this duty to consult, wouldn't you agree that it would be prudent upon you to ensure that you are privy to these sort of arrangements, so that you can report to the Crown, if necessary, that the duty has been fulfilled?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I think here is the crux of the issue.  The duty to consult does not include -- is including of consultation activities as opposed to participation opportunities.

And so, as we have said in our interrogatories, that consultation is part of a constitutional right for Indigenous communities.  However, participation is a provincial policy and good practice for proponents to ensure that Indigenous communities receive participation opportunities.

And so as part of NextBridge's delegated duty to consult, there is no -- there's nothing in our delegated duty to consult that requires us to report on procurement and employment.

However, it is something that we believe is good practice and we have had great success with working with Supercom and Valard to ensure that we're maximizing Indigenous participation on this project.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Are you familiar with the term and a constitutional duty to consult and accommodate?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I am.  And as part of our MOU with the Crown, accommodation is left off.  So we have the procedural aspects of consultation, but we are not delegated the duty to accommodate.  That is reserved for the Crown.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Does the Minister of Energy know your position on this?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, we have had many conversations with the Ministry of Energy since the project began five years ago.  And so it was specifically carved out of our MOU with the Ministry of Energy, the accommodation piece.

MR. ESQUEGA:  So if my client has issues with the accommodation measures that are being proposed by NextBridge, then you are suggesting that they need to approach the Ministry of Energy with these concerns?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So yes.  So for clarity, accommodation results from consultation.  And so the Ministry of Energy would need to determine the amount of consultation that NextBridge had undertaken, and determine the potential impact to traditional rights of BZA, in which case they could then determine if accommodation was necessary for BZA.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And in this proceeding, you're suggesting that no one from the Ministry has ever advised NextBridge as to the level of consultation that is required?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Consultation?  No.  So NextBridge -- when NextBridge got its MOU, there was a list of all 18 communities and there was no indication of any sort of levels of consultation for each community.  And the Ministry of Energy has not told NextBridge the level of accommodation for any of the communities.

MR. ESQUEGA:  So is it fair to say that NextBridge has taken a risk then by only offering accommodation measures in a form of investment agreements to six First Nations and the Métis communities, to the exclusion of the others?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So Indigenous participation is in the purview of the proponent.  So to include that as part of accommodation, if the Ministry of Energy had come back to NextBridge and asked us to accommodate other communities, we would have had those conversations as well.

But in the past five years on this project, we have not specifically been asked to accommodate communities.

MR. ESQUEGA:  You mentioned in one of your responses to our interrogatories, when we asked about the equity question, you said no more equity is being offered.  It is closed, right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And you said that equity was not being offered to BZA, because BZA never expressed an interest in equity.

MS. TIDMARSH:  At the point of the interrogatory, yes.  And so since our September meeting, the chief made it very clear that he was interested in equity in this project, and I clearly told him that there would be no equity for BZA.

MR. ESQUEGA:  But back in May, the chief was asking about equity at that point.  And that was way before the interrogatory in September.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So to my recollection, the chief was asking about -- asking about Supercom opportunities.  I would have to take a look at the meeting notes, but I don't believe there was anything in there where we had a conversation about NextBridge providing equity to BZA at all.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Well, clearly after the September meeting, the chief was concerned about equity.  There's a dispute at the September meeting, right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So at the September meeting, the chief was sure that I had said in May that I would be able to offer equity to BZA.

I have no recollection of offering equity to BZA in that May meeting, and we are not offering equity to BZA.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And the chief was not satisfied with that response?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.  He called me a liar.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And he left the meeting?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I encouraged him to stay to hear our Valard and Supercom discussion on the other opportunities that are available to BZA.  I managed to get him to stay for another ten minutes, and then he took a phone call and left.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And he did direct his counsellor, who is dealing with this portfolio, to stay back and continue on with the meeting.  Is that fair to say?

MS. TIDMARSH:  He did, and we had a very extensive conversation about the opportunities that BZA could take advantage of from that list of contracting opportunities.

MR. ESQUEGA:  So back to the issue of identifying who would be receiving the equity participation benefit from this project, you mentioned that BZA didn't identify themselves as being a community who would be interested in that in your response.

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct, until recently.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And if we look at the additional document that I produce today -- you should have a sheet there -- you will see a note right at the top.

This is from your EA document and it is appendix 2IX, and it refers to an in-person meeting that NextBridge had with BZA, BZA's EDO, on December 19th, 2013.  Do you see that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I do, yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And this is a summary of the discussion that occurred between NextBridge and BZA that you have recorded.  Fair to say?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's fair to say, yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And this was approximately three months after you received the designation?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And if we look towards the bottom of that notation, it says:
"Biinijitiwabik Zaaging Anishnaabek is interested in potential economic opportunities from the project, and also how the project could open up opportunities for additional renewable energy in the north."


MS. TIDMARSH:  Correct.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Would that not be an expression of an interest of receiving economic participation benefits from this project?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It wasn't.  I was actually personally at this meeting, and I remember having this conversation and we discussed jobs and procurement.  No equity was discussed at this meeting.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Did you advise them that you are offering equity to another group of First Nations at this time?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, we didn't.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Because if we look at tab 7 of the compendium, which is your participation plan, starting at page 17 of the brief is a cover page.  If we go to page 23, at this point you had already identified the six BLP communities as communities that would benefit from economic participation in this project.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So the line here is:
"NextBridge understands that the traditional territories of the following six First Nations are situated along the project route..."


And so we discussed that they are located along the project route.
"We have met with these communities to develop the relationships necessary for a strong business relationship, and to jointly explore mutual acceptable approaches to commercial participation in this project."


So yes, these six communities were part of the Bamkushwada group that were part of Hydro One's original bid for this project.

And so we identified these communities and they identified to themselves -- they identified themselves to us, and that they were looking for economic participation in the project.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And just to confirm, this is on January 2nd, 2014, less than a month --


MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.

MR. ESQUEGA:  -- from the date of the meeting with BZA?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And by this point, you had already identified this group as being potential economic participation communities, and I understand that at that point you had already been thinking about offering them the investment opportunity.

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And you were able to conclude your list without consulting with the other communities not listed here?

MS. TIDMARSH:  And so they have been identified, but there is nothing in here that says that they are solely the only communities that would receive economic participation in the project.

In fact, there is quite a few sections in here that talk about -- the page beforehand talks about identified Aboriginal communities.  So we identify these communities, and we identify that we would be in line with the Long-Term Energy Plan ensuring that we provide economic participation in various forms to all of these communities.

And so the ones that were included here were the ones that were -- have identified themselves because they were part of the Hydro One bid previously.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And back to the issue of BZA, the allegation that BZA did not express an interest in economic participation in the form of equity, it is fair to say that by this point you had never offered them equity at any point?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So, no, we did not offer BZA equity.

MR. ESQUEGA:  You made the decision to go with the six BLP communities because it is strategic for you to have the communities that are directly under the line on-board.

MS. TIDMARSH:  NextBridge made the decision to work with the BLP communities for an equity participation, yes, we did.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And despite the fact that you are traversing BZA's traditional territory, and despite the fact that BZA has an outstanding title claim, you are prepared to proceed with that risk and not afford BZA any equity in this project?  Is that right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.  There are many other communities that have title claims in the area.  There are many other communities that have asked NextBridge for equity, and NextBridge has told those communities that equity at this point is closed and that we have provided equity to the BLP communities, because at this point we have surety of cost.

So as part of our costs it is included in those negotiated and completed Indigenous participation agreements.  And so we have -- they are all included in those costs, and this is the cost that we have put forward in front of the OEB.

MR. ESQUEGA:  So for clients like -- for First Nation communities like mine, the one I represent, Biinijitiwabik Zaaging, their only option now is to hope that Supercom provides them with some contracting and employment opportunities.  Is that fair to say?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So it is not a hope.  Supercom has approached BZA and has started discussions about the potential for some of the contracting opportunities that BZA will be a preferred bidder on along with the other communities.

And so if BZA is cost- and schedule-effective, then BZA would be selected.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And what about the Valard?  Have they been directed to contract with communities other than the ones that are in Supercom?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.  So as part of the Valard contract, we have asked Valard to provide us a complete Aboriginal -- what do we call it again? -- Aboriginal community -- it is part of an exhibit, one of exhibits in there.

So it includes all 18 communities.  So Valard must provide opportunities for all 18 communities to receive participation opportunities on the East-West Tie.

MR. ESQUEGA:  So it is a specific term of the contract?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It is, yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  So BZA and the other 18 communities can also approach Valard directly, not through Supercom, to obtain procurement opportunities for this project.  Is that what you are saying?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So Supercom is the vehicle for providing those opportunities on the projects.  And so Valard will direct BZA to work with Supercom.

And so Supercom is the entity that is set up to ensure that these contracting and procurement opportunities flow to those communities.  They're the boots on the ground.  They're the people in communities that ensure that happens.

MR. ESQUEGA:  I guess the question that I was getting at -- I apologize for not being clear about it -- but can BZA contract directly with Valard without having to go through Supercom?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So that's up to Valard, but that is not the vehicle that we have set up to ensure that there are participation opportunities, and the vehicle we have set up or has been set up is Supercom.

MR. ESQUEGA:  So when you say "vehicles", so basically there is no contractual obligation for Valard to contract directly with BZA, for example.

MS. TIDMARSH:  There is no contractual, no.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Only with Supercom.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Supercom and Valard have an agreement together, but as part of that agreement, and that is part of our conditions for our contract with Valard, is that they must ensure that the 18 communities receive opportunities for procurement.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Is that the same for operations and maintenance of the line once it's -- or the assets once it's been built?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We haven't actually gotten to that part of the project yet.  We have had conversations with the communities about operations and maintenance.  So operations and maintenance will be handled through NextBridge.

So when we get to that point -- we have in our budget and as part of our construction phase, we have opportunities -- we have funding available for ensuring that Indigenous communities' members are part of our O&M process.  Mr. Mayers?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes.  I believe that the -- on the operations side, that the vegetation management bucket, there will be funds available for support from, I'm not saying specifically Indigenous communities, I'm saying for contracted support to do vegetation management along the entire route.

And of course, we're not at that point yet where we have let contracts, but that is in the plan.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Yesterday we heard some evidence from the HONI panel, and they suggested that all of the future participation benefits are built into the equity of -- that they're offering for the assets.

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's from what I understand they said.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Is your contract any different than what they're proposing?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I don't actually understand --


MR. ESQUEGA:  Sorry, is your agreement or your offer to the First Nations any different than what HONI has proposed to their First Nation communities?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I don't know.  I can't opine on what they have proposed to Bamkushwada.  I don't know their proposal, the ins and outs of it.  I don't know how that would compare to what NextBridge has signed on with Valard.  Sorry, signed on with Bamkushwada.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And in terms of the consultation monitoring from the Ministry of Energy, my understanding is that no one from the Ministry of Energy has been monitoring your consultation efforts?

MS. TIDMARSH:  They have been.  Actually, we have monthly meetings with the Ministry of Energy, and so we also have biweekly phone calls as well with representatives from the Ministry of Energy from their consultation division.

And so as part of those in-person meetings and as part of those biweekly phone calls, we discuss our progress with consultation.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Have you received any evaluations on your consultation to date?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, we have not.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And have you received any evaluations on the accommodation measures that you have offered to date?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So as I mentioned before, we are calling it Aboriginal Economic Participation, not accommodation.  Accommodation is something that the Crown would offer.

So we are offering participation opportunities to communities.  And so they have not opined on accommodation.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Has the Ministry of Energy asked anything about accommodation measures?

MS. TIDMARSH:  They have not, no.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Esquega.

I understand that Mr. Henderson from the Batchewana First Nation does not have any questions, but I will just ask if Mr. Henderson is on the line.  I think I will have silence.  So I think I will get silence.

Mr. Henderson, are you on the line?

MR. HENDERSON:  Yes, I am.

MS. LONG:  Do you have any questions of the NextBridge panel?

MR. HENDERSON:  Not at this time.  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Okay, thank you very much.

Then we are adjourned for today, and we will start again tomorrow morning at 9:30, and Hydro One will be asking the questions first.  Thank you.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 12:15 p.m.
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